NO. 76748-8-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

TRINA CORTESE, AN INDIVIDUAL, AND TRINA CORTESE AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF TANNER TROSKO, RICHARD CORTESE AND TRINA CORTESE HUSBAND AND WIFE AND THEIR MARITAL COMMUNITY,

Plaintiffs/Appellants

vs.

LUCAS WELLS, CORY WELLS, ROCHELLE WELLS, AND THE MARITAL COMMUNITY OF CORY AND ROCHELLE WELLS, AND CORY AND ROCHELLE WELLS DBA TLC TOWING, AN UNINCORPORATED BUSINESS, AND STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant/Respondents

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

THE HONORABLE BERNARD VELJACIC

PETITION FOR REVEW

This case presents the following issues for review:

- 1. Is a family member disqualified from making a claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress even though that that family member suffers posttraumatic distress disorder as a result of witnessing the aftermath of an incident where another family member is killed?
- 2. Is there a genuine issue of fact as to whether Ms. Cortese arrived shortly after the incident in question?

V. Statement of the Case.

Tanner Trosko, the son of Trina Cortese, died in a motor vehicle incident on September 4, 2013, when he was seventeen years of age. At the time of the incident, Tanner was a passenger in a 1960 Ford Pickup driven by Lucas Wells and owned by Cory Wells, Lucas' father. The younger Mr. Wells lost control of the pickup as he sped around a curve well in excess of the recommended speed limit of twenty-five miles per hour. The vehicle rotated, went into a ditch on the opposite side of the roadway, flipped onto its top, and skidded to a stop. (CP 76-82) Tanner died of mechanical asphyxiation due to his position in the pickup when it came to rest. (CP 74, 82)

At the time of the incident, Mr. and Ms. Cortese were outside doing yard work at their home in Ridgefield, Washington. Within minutes of the occurrence, a friend of Tanner's came to their house and told them

that Tanner had been hurt. Cory Wells also came to their residence and told Ms. Cortese that Tanner did not survive. (CP 67-68)

In September of 2013, Ms. Cortese had been employed for a number of years as a respiratory therapist in the intensive care unit at PeaceHealth Southwest Washington Medical Center in Vancouver. She has estimated that she participated in one to two resuscitations per shift at the hospital. She wanted to get the scene as soon as possible to see if she could resolve her son based on her training and experience. (CP 61-63, 70, 85)

The Cortese's residence is approximately three-quarters of a mile from the scene of the incident as the crow flies and about 1.8 miles by car. (CP 80, 83) They arrived at the scene approximately twenty minutes after the occurrence. (CP 76-82, 85) When they got there, they saw the truck upside down in the ditch on the side of the road. One door was propped open. The cab was crunched down. It was not recognizable as a truck. Tanner was on the ground covered by a sheet. One of his legs was exposed. Emergency responders were present but were not processing the scene. Ms. Cortese was understandably shaken and began screaming. One of the emergency responders restrained her from going to her son. At that point, he was one side of the two lane road while she was on the other

side, a distance of about twenty to twenty-five feet. He stayed in that position until the medical examiner arrived hours later. (CP 69, 71-73, 85)

Dr. Carla Dorsey, a psychiatrist, has diagnosed Ms. Cortese with post traumatic stress disorder as a result of this incident. For her part, Ms. Cortese found that her mental functioning was not as good as it was before Tanner's death. Ambulance sirens and persons being short of breath triggered memories of the incident. She became distracted at work. These factors caused her to be unable to return to her job as a respiratory therapist. (CP 74-75, 88-90)

Ms. Cortese sued the younger Mr. Wells and his parents on June 20, 2014. She sought damages under RCW 4.20.046 as her son's personal representative. She also asked for recovery under RCW 4.24.010 and for damages for negligent infliction of emotional distress. (CP 1-4) Ms. Cortese also made a claim for underinsured motorists benefits against State Farm. At length, State Farm was added to the litigation. (CP 5-13, 34-39) It ultimately paid its policy limits for the wrongful death claims. (CP 15)

State Farm then moved for summary judgment to dismiss Ms. Cortese's claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress. (CP 22-31)

The trial court granted the motion and dismissed all claims against State

Farm. (CP 122-26) Ms. Cortese then appealed. (CP 128-41) The Court of Appeals, Division One, affirmed.

VI. Argument.

a. <u>The Decision of the Court of Appeals Conflicts with</u> Decisions of the Supreme Court.

The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court. First of all, it denies recovery to Ms. Cortese even though she suffers from post traumatic stress disorder as a result of her observations at the scene. Secondly, it denies her relief even though there is at least a genuine issue of material fact as to whether she arrived shortly after the incident. Third, it is based in part on the fact that emergency responders were present when Ms. Cortese arrived. The Supreme Court should therefore take review. RAP 13.4(b)(1)

In *Hegel v. McMahon*, 136 Wn.2d 122, 132, 960 P.2d 424, 1998), the Court ruled that a family member may recover for emotional distress caused by observing a relative being injured or by observing the relative shortly after the incident and before there is a substantial change in the relative's condition or location. The Court adopted this rule to allow "recovery only to the class of claimants who are present at the scene before the horror of the accident has abated" and who witness the aftermath of an accident in all its alarming detail. 136 Wn.2d at 130. 132

The Court distinguished between the trauma that a person suffers by viewing the incident or its aftermath—which is compensable—and the emotional upset that a person feels knowing that a family member has been injured—which is not. 136 Wn.2d at 131 In making that distinction, it suggested that the tort of negligent infliction of emotional distress compensates post traumatic stress disorder. 136 Wn.2d at 131 fn. 2

Nine years later, the Court decided *Colbert v. Moomba Sports, Inc.*, 163 Wn.2d 63, 176 P.3d 497 (2007). The majority opinion in that case reiterated its statement in *Hegel v. McMahon, supra*, concerning the purpose of the rule enunciated in *Hegel v. McMahon, supra*. It stated:

Accordingly, in deciding the scope of the tort, we sought to identify a rule that permitted recovery for those who suffer emotional distress because they personally experienced the immediate aftermath of an accident that is in reality a continuation of the event. We identified the proper scope of the phrase "shortly thereafter," by recognizing first that "[a]n appropriate rule should not be based on temporal limitations, but should differentiate between the trauma suffered by a family member who views an accident or its aftermath, and the grief suffered by anyone upon discovering that a relative has been severely injured." (Citation omitted) We analogized to diagnosing those suffering from "posttraumatic stress disorder, [where the] traumatic event is one where a person experiences or witnesses actual or threatened physical injury or death, and has a response that involves 'intense fear, helplessness, or horror." (Citations omitted)...

The Court also ruled that a family member did not lose a claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress if emergency responders were present when he or she arrived. 160 Wn.2d at 61-62

By any measure, Trina Cortese arrived at the scene shortly after the incident that claimed her son's life. There clearly had been no change to his condition because he had died. There had also been no substantial change to his location. His body had been moved from the cab of the truck to the roadway and placed under a sheet where it laid for hours until the medical examiner arrived. Moving him to that location did not mitigate the horror of the incident's aftermath. To the contrary, it exacerbated it, especially because the medical examiner did not come to the scene for several hours. There can be little doubt that the scene presented the horror of the incident's aftermath.

The Court of Appeals based its decision on the fact that when Ms. Cortese arrived, emergency responders were at the scene, had blocked traffic off, and would not let Ms. Cortese to approach her son's body; that Ms. Cortese saw her son's body under a sheet and therefore did not observe any blood; that he was already dead and his body and been removed from the truck when she arrived; and that she had been told that he had died while she was still at her home. Slip Opinion, pps. 8-9 While it noted that she had been diagnosed with post traumatic stress disorder,

that factor played no part in its decision. The analysis of the Court of Appeals was flawed.

First of all, whether the victim is already dead when the family member arrives should have no bearing. In this case, it should militate in favor of allowing the claim because there was no change to the condition of young Mr. Trosko before his mother came to the scene. Given that he died from mechanical asphyxiation, there may have been no blood to see. Disqualifying Ms. Cortese on the basis that her son had died would preclude her from making a claim if she had come onto the scene without any knowledge of what had happened and before emergency responders had arrived. There is no requirement that the victim be alive when the family member arrives in either *Hegel v. McMahon, supra*, or *Colbert v. Moomba Sports, Inc., supra*.

Secondly, prior knowledge of the incident is merely a consideration, not a disqualifying factor as was noted in *Colbert v. Moomba Sports, Inc., supra,* 163 Wn.2d at 60

Third, and as the Court made clear in *Colbert v. Moomba*Sports, Inc., supra, the presence of emergency responders on the scene does not foreclose her claim.

Finally, and most importantly, Ms. Cortese suffered the precise type of injury that the tort of negligent infliction of emotional

distress was designed to compensate as discussed in both *Hegel v. McMahon, supra,* and *Colbert v. Moomba Sports, Inc., supra.* She has been diagnosed with post traumatic stress disorder. The effect upon her has been so profound that she has not been able to continue in her work as a respiratory therapist. This fact clearly indicates that the horror of the scene had not dissipated by the time that she arrived. Since the object of the "shortly thereafter" rule is to include the claims of those who suffer from observing the horror of the scene of an incident, Ms. Cortese must have been deemed to have arrived "shortly thereafter" and therefore qualify for relief.

Under all of the facts, which must be viewed in a light most favorable to Ms. Cortese—especially her diagnosis of post traumatic stress disorder, a reasonable juror could conclude that she had arrived shortly after the incident. This is especially true because the terms "shortly thereafter" and "substantial" change in the victim's condition or location are imprecise. That means that the trial court erred by granting summary judgment, and the case must be tried. Wilson v. Steinbach., 98 Wn.2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982) Therefore, the contrary decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a long line of decisions of the Supreme Court, such as Wilson v. Steinbach, supra, that address the proper disposition of a summary judgment motion.

The Court has ruled that arbitrary limitations cannot be placed on the tort of negligent infliction of emotional distress. In Hegel v. McMahon, supra, 136 Wn.2d at 130-31, it rejected presence at the scene at the time of injury as a requirement and temporal limitations upon arrival as being arbitrary. If Ms. Cortese cannot recover for injuries that the tort is supposed to compensate, then the requirements for the tort of negligent infliction of emotional distress must also be considered arbitrary and should be re-examined. Rather than a litmus test based on the presence or absence or certain factors—such as whether the family member knew of the incident before arrival—the inquiry should focus on the scene as a whole when the family member arrived. Stated another way, the factors should be viewed as a guide to determining the overall character of the scene of the incident. Was it relatively fresh? Or had it been changed in such a way as to mitigate its initial horror? Was the scene sufficiently horrible that it could be expected to engender an emotional reaction in a reasonable person or not? Cf. Hunsley v. Giard, 87 Wn.2d 424, 436, 553 P.2d 1096 (1976) The claimant's injuries should also be considered. Were they based on observation of the scene itself or concern for the injured victim?

State Farm based its motion on the fact that Ms. Cortese knew of the incident prior to her arrival. Such knowledge is a

consideration but is not by itself a disqualifying factor as the Court stated in *Colbert v. Moomba Sporst, Inc., supra*. It should not preclude a claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress. Observing the actual scene may lead to emotional injury to the claimant even if he or she has an idea what is in store. The truth of that assertion is clearly demonstrated by Ms. Cortese.

Trina Cortese arrived at the scene of the incident before there had been any substantial change to her son's location or condition. She suffered post traumatic stress disorder as a result. Under decisions from the Supreme Court in both *Hegel v. McMahon, supra,* and *Colbert v. Moomba Sports, Inc., supra,* she has presented at least an issue of fact as to whether she should recover for negligent infliction of emotional distress. The decision of the Court of Appeals is at odds with these two decisions as well as decisions concerning the propriety of summary judgment. The Supreme Court should take review for that reason.

b. The Supreme Court Should Take Review Because the Decision of the Court of Appeals Conflicts with Another Decision of the Court of Appeals.

The decision of the Court of Appeals in this case is in direct conflict with the decision in *Greene v. Young*, 113 Wn.App. 746, 54 P.3d

734 (2002). The Supreme Court should therefore take review. RAP 13.4(b)(2)

In *Greene v. Young, supra,* Ms. Greene and her young son were victims of a car-jacking. Ms. Greene jumped out of the car with her son to get away from the perpetrator. The car then ran over her legs and fractured her ankles. Her spouse arrived at the scene a "short time thereafter." 113 Wn.App. at 749 Emergency responders were present. He observed his emotionally distraught wife in a stretcher with her legs in splints. The son was in the arms of a stranger—perhaps an emergency responder—and was crying uncontrollably. Mr. Greene was subsequently diagnosed with post traumatic stress disorder. Citing *Hegel v. McMahon, supra,* the Court held that Mr. Greene had a viable claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress because he had arrived shortly after the incident and before there was any substantial change to the condition or location of his wife or son. It stated:

Here, (Mr. Greene) came upon the scene shortly after the incident concluded. He observed his injured wife at the scene, hysterically crying while being carried on a stretcher. He observed his son in a stranger's arms, also crying and screaming uncontrollably. The location had not changed and there was little change in the condition of his wife and child. . .

113 Wn.App. at 752 The Court was not concerned with whether Mr. Greene knew of the occurrence before he arrived—although it is likely that he had been summoned to the scene.

The Court in *Greene v. Young, supra,* came to its decision even though Ms. Greene and the couple's child had been moved and splints had been applied to Ms. Greene's legs. In other words, it viewed the location as encompassing the entire area where the incident occurred and where Mr. Greene found his wife and child. It also focused on the obvious horror of the aftermath rather than applying a litmus test based on certain factors.

Under the Court's view in *Greene v. Young, supra*, there was no change in Tanner Trosko's location by the time Ms. Cortese arrived. He was still at the scene, albeit under a sheet. There was also no change in his condition since he had died in the incident. Therefore, under what the Court said in *Greene v. Young, supra*, Ms. Cortese arrived shortly after the incident and is entitled to make a claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress.

The comparison of our case with *Greene v. Young, supra*, shows that there are different analyses of whether there has been a substantial change in the location of the family member for the purposes of determining whether a family member arrives shortly after an incident.

In our case, it appears that any movement of the victim—however, slight—will amount to a disqualifying change in the victim's location. In *Greene v. Young, supra*, on the other hand, the victim can be moved about the scene without the family member losing a claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress. The Supreme Court should take review to clarify the quantum of movement of the victim necessary to eliminate the family member's claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress.

c. Review Should Be Taken Even Though the Decision of the Court of Appeals Is Unpublished.

It may be suggested that review should not be taken because the decision of the Court of Appeals is an unpublished decision that has been determined by the Court of Appeals not to have precedential value. RCW 2.06.040 It can be cited, however, for such value as is deemed appropriate. As GR 14.1(a) has provided since September 1, 2016:

Unpublished opinions of the Court of Appeals are those opinions not published in the Washington Appellate Reports. Unpublished opinions of the Court of Appeals have no precedential value and are not binding on any court. However, unpublished opinions of the Court of Appeals filed on or after March 1, 2013, may be cited as nonbinding authorities, if identified as such by the citing party, and may be accorded such persuasive value as the court deems appropriate.

At this point, it is not uncommon for recent unpublished decisions of the Court of Appeals to be cited to and to be relied upon by trial courts. This represents a significant change from the law as it existed prior to September 1, 2016, when a party could be sanctioned for citing an unpublished decision, and no court could consider an unpublished decision. State v. Fitzpatrick, 5 Wn.App. 661, 668, 491 P.2d 262 (1971); Johnson v. Allstate Insurance Co., 126 Wn.App. 510, 519, 108 P.3d 1273 (2005)

Appeals decision in this case will be cited to a trial court in a future case. When that happens, the trial court will no doubt give some consideration to the decision because, at the end of the day, it is a decision of the Court of Appeals. As pointed out above, the decision is flawed and is in conflict decisions of both the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals. The Supreme Court should take review, as it would with any other case where such conflicts exist, to prevent confusion as to how claims for intentional infliction of emotional distress should be evaluated.¹

¹ This confusion may be magnified by *Haynes v. State Farm Mutual Insurance Companies*, 198 Wn.App. 1009, 2017 Lexis Wn.App. 556 (2017), where the Court ruled in an unpublished decision that a wife was not disqualified from making a claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress because she was called to come to the scene of a motorcycle crash that injured her husband. That decision may also be cited to trial courts.

VII. Conclusion.

The Supreme Court should take review of this case. After due consideration, it should reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals and remand the matter to the Superior Court for trial on Ms. Cortese's claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress against State Farm.