FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/31/2017 1:45 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

#### NO. 94737-6

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TRINA CORTESE, AN INDIVIDUAL, AND TRINA CORTESE AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF TANNER TROSKO, RICHARD CORTESE AND TRINA CORTESE HUSBAND AND WIFE AND THEIR MARITAL COMMUNITY,

Petitioner,

V.

LUCAS WELLS, CORY WELLS, ROCHELLE WELLS, AND THE MARTIAL COMMUNITY OF CORY AND ROCHELLE WELLS, AND CORY AND ROCHELLE WELLS DBA TLC TOWING, AN UNINCORPORATED BUSINESS, AND STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY,

## Respondent

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. INTRODUCTION
II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE3
III. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED
A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Decided The Case 5
<b>B.</b> Review Should Not Be Granted Under RAP 13.4(b)(1)9
C. Review Should Not Be Granted Under RAP13.4(b)(2). 12
<b>D.</b> The Fact That A Decision Is Unpublished Is Not A Reason for Review
IV. CONCLUSION
V. APPENDIX

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# **Table of Cases**

# **Washington Cases**

Colbert v. Moomba Sports, Inc., 163 Wn.2d 43, 176 P.3d 497 (2008)		
Hegel v. McMahon, 136 Wn.2d 122, 960 P.2d 424 (1998) 5, 10		
Greene v. Young, 113 Wn. App. 746, 54 P.3d 734(2002)		
Wilson v. Steinbach, 98 Wn. 2d 434, 656 P. 2d 1030 (1982)		
Other Jurisdictions		
Mazzagatti v. Everingham, 512 Pa. 266, 516 A.2d 672 (1986)		
RAP		
RAP 2.5		
RAP 13.43, 9, 11, 12, 13, 14		

#### I. INTRODUCTION

State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company ("State Farm"), the Defendant in the trial court and Respondent in this Court, files this Answer to the Petition for Review.

This case involves a claim under Appellant Trina Cortese's Underinsured Motorist Coverage ("UIM") against State Farm for the death of her son Tanner Trosko which occurred when he was a passenger in a truck that overturned. The Court of Appeals applied well-established Washington common law principles to determine that the trial court correctly applied the law for a bystander claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress ("NIED"). In this lawsuit, all other claims have settled except for the claim by Ms. Cortese for emotional distress.

Ms. Cortese was at her home when the accident occurred. She was informed that her son had been in an accident and did not survive prior to arriving at the accident scene. She did not arrive at the

accident scene unwittingly. She saw her son lying on the side of the road under a sheet after he was removed from the vehicle by the emergency personnel. There was a material change in the accident scene.

The NIED cause of action was properly dismissed on summary judgment by the trial court because the plaintiff did not meet the criteria required to establish this judicially-created cause of action as set forth in *Colbert v. Moomba Sports, Inc.*, 163 Wn.2d 43, 60, 176 P.3d 497 (2008). Review should be denied as this case does not conflict with any decision of the Washington Supreme Court. There is no issue of fact present and no conflict with *Wilson v. Steinbach*, 98 Wn.2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982). Counsel did not brief this case in either the trial court or the Court of Appeals to advocate a change in the law for the legal standard for bystander emotional distress as set forth in *Colbert v. Moomba Sports, Inc.* 

Petitioner's second argument that this case conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals does not provide a

compelling basis for review as *Greene v. Young*, 113 Wn. App. 746, 54 P.3d 734(2002) can be factually distinguished and predates *Colbert. Colbert* found that that there was a material change in circumstances at the accident scene and under the facts of the case stated that the "unwitting arrival" factor was appropriate for consideration by the court. *Colbert*, 163 Wn.2d at 60. The argument that this case should be reviewed because unpublished decisions can now be cited is without legal basis pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2).

It is respectfully submitted that review for this unpublished decision should be denied.

## II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Unlike the Statement of the Case in the Petition for Review, the recitation of facts in the Court of Appeals opinion is an accurate and fair description of the facts and procedure in this case. The *Cortese v*. *Wells* slip opinion succinctly sets forth the operative facts as follows:

Trosko's parents, Trina and Richard Cortese lived near the accident scene and were outside doing yard work when the accident occurred. Trina discussed the sequence of events leading up to her arrival at the scene in her deposition:

And, and then I heard the sirens, you know, and they didn't stop. They just kept on going. And I said, oh, my God, you know, somebody really got hurt. But, but I knew that my son went the other way. He went I-5. He was going to L.A. Fitness.

So, you know, phew, he was okay. Because this was like behind the house when the sirens just kept going on and on. And, and so a little bit later one of [Trosko's] friends comes to the door and the dog's barking. And I said, "Tanner's not here."

And he goes, "No. Have you heard from him?" I said, "He went to LA Fitness." You know, I don't, I don't like to call or anything when, you know, I know if he's driving. And he told me, "No. Call him. There's been an accident." And so I tried to call him and there was no answer.

. . . .

And pretty soon [Wells's] dad comes with somebody and they come in the house and they tell me that [Trosko]'s been in an accident and he didn't survive. And I said, "Oh, my God. I just saw him. He was just here. Oh, my God, no." And, I had to go to him.

. . . .

So my husband drove us to [the accident scene].

When the Corteses arrived roughly 20 minutes after the accident, the accident scene was surrounded by emergency vehicles and blocked off, denying the Corteses entry. Trosko had been removed from the truck and was laying on the other side of the road covered with a sheet. Trina testified she was able to see her son's feet under the sheet.

Op. Pgs. 2-3.

State Farm moved for summary judgment to dismiss

Ms. Cortese's claims for emotional distress. (CP 22-31). The trial
court granted the motion and dismissed all claims against State Farm.
(CP 122-126) The Court of Appeals affirmed on June 12, 2017.

## III. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

# A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied The Applicable Law.

The Court of Appeals in *Cortese* correctly applied the criteria in the *Colbert v. Moomba Sports, Inc.*, 163 Wn.2d 43, 60, 176 P.3d 497 (2008) and *Hegel v. McMahon*, 136 Wn.2d 122, 960 P.2d 424 (1998). The *Cortese* slip opinion sets forth the standard for bystander emotional distress as shown below:

"The tort of negligent infliction of emotional distress is a limited, judicially created cause of action that allows a family member to a recovery for 'foreseeable' intangible injuries caused by viewing a physically injured loved one shortly after a traumatic accident."

In Washington, a cause of action for negligent infliction of emotional distress is recognized "where a plaintiff witnesses the victim's injuries at the scene of an accident shortly after it occurs and before there is a material change in the attendant circumstances.

A plaintiff cannot recover if he or she did not witness the accident and did not arrive shortly thereafter, meaning that he or she did not see the accident or the horrendous attendant circumstances such as bleeding or other symptoms of injury, the victim's cries of pain, and, in some cases, the victim's dying words, all of which would constitute a continuation of the event. Emotional distress from such circumstances is not the same as the emotional distress that ... a person suffers after learning of the suffering of the victim from others who were present, but does not personally see the injuries or the aftermath of the accident before there is a material change. There must be actual sensory experience of the pain and suffering of the victim—personal experience of the horror.

Op. at Pgs. 2-3.

The Court of Appeals properly concluded that there was a material change in circumstances and Ms. Cortese did not arrive unwittingly, stating:

In this case, Trina was informed of her son's accident by a third party, and she arrived at the scene of the accident roughly 20 minutes after the accident had occurred. Emergency responders were already there and had the area blocked off. The first time Trina saw her son, he was laying on the other side of the road covered by a sheet. She could see the bottom of one of his feet and noticed his leg was bent under the sheet. Trina "did not see any blood because they wouldn't let me get close enough."

Under these circumstances, there was a "material change" in the scene because, unlike *Hegel* where the plaintiffs happened upon the scene of the accident, Trosko had already been removed from the truck where he died and was laying on the road when Trina first saw him. Additionally, similar to *Colbert*, emergency crews had already responded to the scene and Trina did not witness the "horrendous attendant circumstances such as bleeding or other symptoms of injury, the victim's cries of pain, [or] the victim's dying words." As difficult as it would be for any parent to see their deceased child, she did not have an "actual sensory experience of the pain and suffering of" her son because he died before she arrived. Finally, Trina

had prior knowledge that her son did not survive the accident. As the Supreme Court observed in *Colbert*, "'[t]he kind of shock the tort requires is the result of the immediate aftermath of an accident.' It is not the emotional distress one experiences at the scene after already learning of the accident before coming to the scene."

Op. at Pgs. 8-10.

In *Colbert*, the court explained that when a bystander plaintiff learns of a close relative's accident from a third party, the prior knowledge serves as a "buffer against the full impact of observing the accident scene." *Colbert*, 163 Wn.2d at 59-60, citing *Mazzagatti v*.

Everingham, 512 PA. 266, 279-80, 516 A.2d 672 (1986). The *Colbert* court stated that the "unwittingly arrival" factor comports with prior case law that limits the cause of action to those who suffer emotional trauma from the shock of personally experiencing the immediate aftermath of an especially horrendous event that is in actuality a continuation of the event." *Id.* at Pg. 60.

The court specifically held that this required shock "is not the emotional distress one experiences at the scene after already learning

of the accident before coming to the scene." *Id.* The *Colbert* court agreed with the *Mazzagatti* court's reasoning that a plaintiff's prior knowledge of a relative's accident before arriving at the scene serves as a buffer against the emotional trauma experienced from the immediate aftermath of an accident. *Id.* 

The facts in the present case are very similar to the facts in *Colbert*. The decision properly places limits on the tort of bystander emotional distress consistent with existing Washington precedent.

# B. Review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) Is Not Authorized As There Is No Conflict With A Decision of the Washington Supreme Court.

Petitioner's brief attempts to create a factual issue by arguing that there was no change to the deceased because he had already died and there was no substantial change to his position. Pet., Pg. 7. The facts are undisputed that Tanner Trosko was removed from the vehicle by the emergency workers and was placed on the side of the road.

There was a material change in circumstance. Ms. Cortese was told

that her son had been in a motor vehicle accident and passed away prior to arriving at the accident. This is consistent with *Colbert*. There is simply no factual issue and no conflict with either *Hegel v*. *McMahon* or *Colbert v*. *Moomba Sports*, *Inc*.

Summary Judgment was properly granted here. There is no factual dispute. The trial court made the correct decision under the applicable legal standard. This case does not present an issue of fact, but rather involves the application of the legal standard to undisputed facts. The argument that the phrase "shortly thereafter" and "substantial change in the victim's condition or location" is imprecise does not create an issue of fact or a conflict with *Wilson v. Steinbach*, 98 Wn.2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982).

That shock that Ms. Cortese experienced was related to watching the workers at the accident scene and experiencing the loss of her son, as explained by *Colbert* as shown below:

As *Hegel* explains, the essence of the tort is the shock resulting from an especially horrendous

event. *Id.* at 130. Mr. Colbert did not suffer the trauma of seeing the accident or the suffering of his daughter. Instead, on these facts the emotional distress he experienced was related to viewing the rescue efforts, the stress of waiting and watching and then having his worst fears confirmed, and the shock that is always attendant to a vital, healthy loved one's sudden, unexpected death.

Mr. Colbert was an unforeseeable plaintiff as a matter of law under *Gain* and *Hegel*.

#### Colbert, 163 Wn.2d at 62.

Finally, there was no briefing in either the trial court or the court of appeals for the adoption of an alternate legal standard for bystander emotional distress. This case was not presented as a test case to expand bystander liability under a new legal theory. Having failed to present these issues and questions to the trial court or to the Court of Appeals, Ms. Cortese cannot raise them now. RAP 2.5(a).

In summary, this case is strikingly similar to the Washington Supreme Court decision in *Colbert*. The *Cortese* decision follows existing precedent and there is no inconsistency with any case of the Supreme Court. Review should be denied under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

# C. Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(2) Is Not Warranted As There Is No Conflict With A Prior Decision of the Court of Appeals.

There is no conflict with any prior published decision of the Court of Appeals that compels review of this decision. *Greene v. Young*, 113 Wn. App. 746, 54 P.3d 734(2002) is not in direct conflict with this decision. *Greene* can be distinguished.

In *Greene* the injured wife was screaming in pain at the accident scene with two fractured ankles, as shown below:

Mitchell Greene arrived at the scene a short time thereafter. He observed that there were fire trucks, ambulances, and police cars at the scene. He witnessed his wife lying on a stretcher with both of her legs in splints, and exhibiting extreme emotional distress. His son was screaming uncontrollably.

*Id.* at 749. Unlike the facts in the present case, Mitchell Green, the plaintiff's husband, was witnessing his injured wife in extreme emotional distress. The opinion in *Greene* does not describe how the husband learned of the criminal assault and auto accident.

Greene was decided in 2002 well before the Colbert decision

that was issued in 2009. The *Colbert* court expressly stated that "We hold that the Court of Appeals properly considered the fact that Mr. Colbert did not arrive on the scene unwittingly." *Colbert*, 163 Wn.2d at 61. Tanner Trosko was deceased, and Ms. Cortese was aware of that fact before she arrived at the accident scene.

The argument that the court should take review to clarify the quantum of movement of the victim to eliminate the family member's claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress should be rejected. Pet. Pg. 14. It is a decision for the trial judge based on all of the factors and not a mechanical construct.

Trina Cortese has failed to demonstrate that there is a conflict under RAP 13.4(b)(2). It is respectfully submitted that this Court should decline review.

# D. The Fact That A Decision Is Unpublished Is Not A Reason for Review

The *Cortese* opinion is unpublished and has no precedential value. Ms. Cortese did not move to publish the decision. The point

that the decision will have precedential value because attorneys will cite it in in briefs is addressed by the express language of GR 14.1(a). The rule unambiguously states that unpublished decisions have no precedential value and are not binding on any court.

In summary, RAP 13.4(b)(2) provides for review of decisions that conflict with published Court of Appeals decisions. It is respectfully submitted that no conflict exists and review should be denied.

### IV. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The Court of Appeals faithfully applied this Court's well-developed common law principles for the tort of negligent infliction of emotional distress. Ms. Cortese was aware that her son had passed away prior to arriving at the accident scene. There was a material change to the accident scene as her son had been removed from the

vehicle by the emergency responders. This Court should deny the Petition for Review.

Dated this 31st day of July, 2017.

## DOUGLAS FOLEY & ASSOCIATES, PLLC

### /s/ DOUGLAS F. FOLEY

Douglas F. Foley, WSBA #13119 Vernon S. Finley, WSBA #12321 Attorneys for Respondent State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company

#### DOUGLAS FOLEY & ASSOCIATES, PLLC

## /s/ VERNON S. FINLEY

Douglas F. Foley, WSBA #13119 Vernon S. Finley, WSBA #12321 Attorneys for Respondent State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company

# V. <u>APPENDIX</u>

Cortese v. Wells, No. 76748-8-I, Washington Court of Appeals, Div. I, 2017 Wash. App. LEXIS 1385 (Wash. Ct. App. June 12, 2017)